STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

RECEIVED

04-29-2016

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

Appeal No.: 15 AP 2675 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

LAUREN A. ERSTAD,

Defendant-Appellant

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ON APPEAL FROM A FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON SEPTEMBER 17, 2015 IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR ROCK COUNTY, BRANCH I, THE HONORABLE JAMES P. DALEY PRESIDING.

Respectfully submitted,

LAUREN A. ERSTAD, Defendant-Appellant

TRACEY WOOD & ASSOCIATES Attorneys for the Defendant-Appellant One South Pinckney Street, Suite 950 Madison, Wisconsin 53703 (608) 661-6300

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the warrant establishes probable cause without the false information contained within it.
- II. Whether the blood test result must be suppressed because the search warrant authorized only drawing the blood and not testing the blood.

STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Defendant-appellant recognizes that this appeal, as a onejudge appeal, does not qualify under this Court's operating procedures for publication. Hence, publication is not sought.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Oral argument would be appropriate in this case only if the Court concludes that the briefs have not fully presented the issues being raised on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Lauren Erstad was involved in an accident at about 3:50 a.m. on August 24, 2014. R 34, p 3. Janesville Police Officer Welte arrived shortly thereafter and saw her vehicle upside down with Ms. Erstad trapped inside. Id. p. 3-4. After she was extracted from the vehicle, Ms. Erstad was treated by emergency personnel and transported to the hospital. Id. p. 5. Officer Welte spoke briefly with Ms. Erstad prior to her transport and reported that he smelled an odor of an intoxicants when speaking with her. Id. He also reported she was very upset and crying, her eyes were bloodshot and droopy, and she complained that her foot hurt. Id.

Officer Welte testified that Ms. Erstad told him at the hospital she had had 3-4 beers. Id. p. 6. The officer did not ask when she had been drinking. Id. p. 23. The officer performed the horizontal gaze nystagmus (HGN) test on Ms. Erstad and reported seeing nystagmus. Id. He also admitted that nystagmus can be caused by factors other than alcohol. He learned through his training that HGN can be caused by a serious head injury and by other factors. Id. p. 24. He further testified he cannot distinguish between nystagmus caused by alcohol and nystagmus caused by any other factor. Id. p. 25. The officer testified he did not perform any other field sobriety testing or

any further investigation because Erstad was at the hospital. Id. p. 6. The officer arrested Ms. Erstad and read the informing the accused form, asking if she would to submit to an evidentiary test of her blood. Id. p. 6-7. The officer testified that Ms. Erstad was argumentative and, at first, did not give permission for her blood to be drawn. Id. p. 8. The officer informed her he would get a warrant to obtain her blood. Id. Ms. Erstad then indicated she would agree to the test. The officer asked if she was freely and voluntarily submitting to the test, and Ms. Erstad responded that she wanted a lawyer. Id. The officer did not tell Ms. Erstad she did not have the right to an attorney before making the decision about whether to agree to testing. Id. p. 28.

Officer Welte then filled out an application for a search warrant and took it to a court commissioner to be signed. R. 22, exhibit 1, p. 21-24. The officer testified he personally filled out the form. R. 34. p. 9. The affidavit and search warrant consist of a form on his computer where he can fill in the blanks and add additional information. Id. The officer testified that he asserted in the search warrant that he personally observed her driving. However, contrary to what he swore to in the warrant application, while Erstad was still the lone occupant in the vehicle with the doors locked and the keys

in the ignition, the car was not running. Thus, the officer did not observe Erstad operate the vehicle. Id. p. 4. The trial court ruled the officer provided incorrect information on the search warrant affidavit when he swore he saw Ms. Erstad driving. R. 34, p. 37-38.

The officer further testified he swore in the affidavit that Ms. Erstad had refused to consent to an evidentiary test. Id. p. 10. At the motion hearing in this matter, the officer testified that he took what she said as a "no" and did a search warrant to be on the safe side. Id. The officer testified she equivocated, and she did agree to the test but then asked for an attorney upon further questioning. Id. p. 8. The trial court did not find the averment that Ms. Erstad had refused to be a misstatement of the officer in the affidavit. However, the court also declined to make a finding that she had refused under the statute. Id. p. 37-38; 45-46.

The officer further swore in the affidavit that he was dispatched to a report of a drunken driver. Id. p. 10. However, he testified at the hearing that he was dispatched to a traffic accident. Id. No mention of a drunken driver was made. Id. The officer testified he checked that box on the warrant application because there was no spot on the warrant to indicate dispatch to a traffic accident. Id. However, he admitted he could choose to check boxes,

but he could also add details as needed. Id. p. 28-29. He did add appropriate details in other places on the affidavit but left the box checked, which indicated that he was dispatched to the report of a drunk driver, even though that was false information. Id. The trial court also ruled that this was incorrect information in the affidavit for the search warrant. Id. p. 38.

The officer then swore under penalty of perjury the information on the affidavit was true before a court commissioner; and the warrant was signed by the commissioner. Id. p. 11. The officer returned to the hospital and directed staff to draw Ms. Erstad's blood pursuant to the warrant. The officer then took the blood in the Blood Draw Kit, put it in evidence at the Janesville Police Department, and waited for the testing to be completed. Id. p. 31. In November, the officer was informed of the test result and, because the result was over .08, he wrote Ms. Erstad an additional ticket for having a prohibited alcohol concentration. Id.

Ms. Erstad was charged with operating while intoxicated as a second offense and operating with a prohibited alcohol concentration as a second offense. R. 2. Motions were filed challenging the search warrant, the testing of the blood, and destruction of evidence, which led to the motion hearing and the oral ruling of the trial court. R. 34.

Ms. Erstad now appeals the decision of the trial court on the motions challenging the search warrant and the testing of the blood¹. R. 35.

In addressing the motion challenging the search warrant as insufficient because it only authorized drawing the blood and not testing the blood, the trial court held that it is settled law in Wisconsin that there is no need for a second search warrant. The court held that once the police have seized the blood, it is the department's blood, and the testing is then done pursuant to implied consent. R. 34, p. 37.

As to the motion challenging the search warrant affidavit due to the misstatements and false information provided by the officer, the trial court ruled that it could excise those statements and look to whether probable cause still existed within the affidavit and without the statements. Id. p. 38. The trial court then found without those statements, the search warrant was still sufficient and denied the motion. Id.

Ms. Erstad entered a plea. R. 23. The court sentenced Ms. Erstad, stayed all penalties pending appeal, and she filed a Notice of

¹ Ms. Erstad does not appeal the ruling on destruction of evidence. That motion raised the issue of whether the officer had destroyed the videotape of his interaction with Ms. Erstad. The trial court ruled, "You're going to have a right to ask about the tape (at trial). And, they're going to have to show that, in fact, there weren't shenanigans here..." R. 34, p. 41. The trial court later observed, "Should make an interesting trial." Id. p. 42.

Intent to Pursue Postconviction Relief. R. 23 and 28. She then filed a Notice of Appeal to this Court. R. 35.

ARGUMENT

I. Standard of Review

This Court reviews the circuit court's findings of fact under the clearly erroneous standard. *State v. Padley*, 2014 WI App 65, ¶ 65, 354 Wis. 2d 545, 849 N.W.2d 867. Thus, this Court will generally defer to the lower court's fact and credibility determinations. *Padley*, 2014 WI App 65 at ¶ 65. However, this Court owes no deference to the lower court's legal conclusions. *Id.* Thus, this Court reviews de novo the issue of how the facts apply to the law. *Id.* Whether a search is valid is a question of law to be reviewed de novo by this Court. State v. Guzman, 166 Wis. 2d 577, 586, 480 N.W.2d 446 (1992). A reviewing court is confined to the record that was before the warrant-issuing magistrate to determine whether there was probable cause to issue the search warrant. State v. DeSmidt, 155 Wis. 2d 119, 132, 454 N.W.2d 780 (1990). The reviewing court has a duty to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis to conclude there was probable cause on those facts before the issuing magistrate. State v. Jackson, 313 Wis. 2d 162, 169, 756 N.W.2d 623 (Ct. App. 2008).

II. Does the search warrant survive the false information contained on it?

"When the Fourth Amendment demands a factual showing sufficient to comprise probable cause, the obvious assumption is that there will be a *truthful* showing." *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 154–65 (1978) (Blackmun, J.) (emphasis in original). Probable cause may be based on hearsay and information from informants. *Franks*, 438 U.S. at 165. But the affiant must actually believe the facts set forth in the affidavit. *Id*.

Officer Welte made several material misrepresentations of fact, constituting at least a reckless disregard for the truth, in his affidavit in support of the OMVWI search warrant in this case. First, he averred he personally saw Ms. Erstad driving, but he later testified he did not see her driving and was actually dispatched after the accident had already occurred. Second, he swore in the affidavit that he was dispatched to a report of a drunken driver, but he testified unequivocally that the dispatch was for a motor vehicle accident with no mention of drunken driving. Third, he swore that Ms. Erstad refused a chemical test. The officer did not correctly report the facts, because Ms. Erstad had indicated she would take a chemical test. She was first argumentative; however, upon the officer's good faith representation that he would get a warrant, she

indicated she would take the test. This is generally held to be voluntary consent. See, e.g., People v. Magby, 37 Il. 2d 197, 226 N.E.2d 33 (1967) (consent valid where officer told defendant "If you don't care to let us search, we'll get a warrant."); United States v. Culp, 472 F.2d 459, 461 n.1 (8th Cir. 1973), cert. denied, 411 U.S. 970 (1973). *United States ex rel. Gockley v. Meyers*, 450 F.2d 232 (3d Cir. 1967) (consent valid where police told defendant that they were going to get a search warrant). Because Ms. Erstad agreed to the test after being told the officer would obtain a warrant, she did not refuse and, in fact, consented. After the officer further questioned Erstad's decision, asking if she would freely and voluntarily submit to the test, Ms. Erstad said she wanted to talk with a lawyer. The officer did not inform her that she needed to make the decision on her own without a lawyer, as required by State v. **Baratka** and instead simply proceeded to obtain the warrant at that time. 258 Wis. 2d 342, 349-50, 654 N.W.2d 875 (WI App 2002) citing State v. Reitter, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 235, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999). Therefore, the bald statement that Ms. Erstad had refused chemical testing omitted important information known to the officer. At a bare minimum, the officer omitted crucial facts that should have

been shared with the issuing magistrate. *State v. Mann*, 123 Wis. 2d 375, 388, 367 N.W.2d 209 (1985).

The trial court made no finding one way or the other directly to the point of whether the officer made sworn statements in reckless disregard of the truth, but did indicate, "[i]t is troubling." R. 34, p. 38. The trial court found there were statements which were false in the affidavit, and the court was concerned about those statements. The trial court addressed the false statements saying, "Yeah, I see two. I was dispatched to the location because of a report of a drunk driving, and I observed the person driving." R. 34, p. 38. Further, it is clear the officer admitted he entered false information into the affidavit deliberately, even though he had the ability to enter the correct information. R. 34, p. 28-29. That constitutes at least reckless disregard for the truth, and no other excuse or explanation was proposed.

The trial court did not exclude the officer's contention in the warrant that Ms. Erstad had refused to submit to a test when reviewing the warrant for probable cause. Whether a person has refused to submit to a chemical test is a legal finding, not a factual finding. *State v. Reitter*, 227 Wis. 2d 213, 223, 595 N.W.2d 646 (1999) (Application of the implied consent statute to an undisputed

set of facts, like any statutory construction, is a question of law.) While the officer marked that box, he did not provide any further information about the facts and circumstances surrounding the alleged refusal. No finding of refusal was made by the trial court. R. 34, p. 45. The bald statement that Ms. Erstad refused was at best misleading and omitted important and necessary information from the affidavit. *State v. McMurtrey*, 704 F.3d 502, 509 (7th Cir. 2013). In this case, the testimony was that Ms. Erstad, in fact, agreed to provide a chemical test of her blood. While she originally argued after being read the informing the accused form, when the officer told her he was going to get a warrant to take her blood, she agreed to the blood draw. Where there is a genuine intent to obtain a warrant, such a statement does not negate consent. State v. *Kiekhefer*, 212 Wis. 2d 460, 473, 569 N.W.2d 316 (Ct. App. 1997). Consequently, a simple box checked indicating she refused to consent to the blood draw omitted important information from the affidavit and was also false. Furthermore, the warrant would not have been sought in the absence of the refusal allegation under Wisconsin law. Thus, whether the officer either falsely said Erstad refused or left out crucial information that she actually agreed to the

test after negotiation is important information that the magistrate relied upon.

When, as here, an affidavit is the only evidence presented to a magistrate in support of a search warrant, the validity of the warrant rests solely on the strength of the affidavit. *United States v. Peck*, 317 F. 3d 754, 755-56, (7th Cir. 2003). While the trial court ruled the affidavit was sufficient with the false statements, it did not rule on whether the additional information about Ms. Erstad's alleged refusal should have been considered, nor on whether it was actually considered by the trial court in its ruling. Instead the trial court simply excised the two offending statements and ruled:

Let's remove those two comments. Is there sufficient information on that where an independent magistrate could issue a search warrant? I think, yes, from the observations. It is troubling, but there is sufficient other information in here, such as she indicated she – to the officer she had been consuming alcohol. He was there because of an accident. And the physical observation made of the defendant at the time, I think they're sufficient. Your motion is denied.

R. 34, p. 38.

However, looking at the false information provided and also taking into consideration the information omitted, there are not sufficient facts for probable cause in the affidavit. The trial court summarized the information provided in the affidavit – the officer was dispatched to an accident, Ms. Erstad admitted she had

consumed alcohol, and the officer made physical findings. The affidavit itself reflects those physical findings: bloodshot and glassy eyes, slurred speech, and difficulty keeping balance. R. 22, exhibit 1, p. 23. However, Ms. Erstad was also being treated at the hospital due to the seriousness of the accident. Her vehicle was on its roof, and she was having a hard time getting out of the vehicle when rescue personnel arrived. Ms. Erstad's vehicle was totaled with extremely serious damage. R. 22, exhibit 2. Ms. Erstad complained of injuries, and the ambulance took her to the hospital. These were all facts the officer was aware of that would establish Ms. Erstad was injured, not drunk. There was no information as to the cause of the accident at all. Ms. Erstad complained of a foot injury and was treated for that, in the officer's presence. Notably, he did not put that in the affidavit for the warrant. To do so would have shown her balance problems were due to a foot injury, not intoxication. To then state she had difficulty keeping balance does not further a finding of probable cause for impairment by alcohol. Similarly, the officer testified that Ms. Erstad was upset and crying after the accident and injuries she suffered, so any bloodshot eyes were an obvious result from crying. Again, a statement that she had glassy and bloodshot eyes would not

further a finding of probable cause for alcohol impairment after that observation.

The main information which the trial court relied upon for probable cause is then Erstad's admission to drinking and the odor of intoxicants. The officer did not ask what she drank or over what time period she drank alcohol. A mere odor of alcohol and admission to drinking do not indicate, of themselves, impairment. It is not unlawful in Wisconsin to drink alcohol and drive. What is unlawful is that a person drink enough alcohol that he or she is less able to exercise the clear judgment and steady hand necessary to handle and control a motor vehicle. Wis JI-Crim 2663.

An affidavit for a warrant must set out particular facts and circumstances going to the existence of probable cause to allow the magistrate to make an independent evaluation of the matter. *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 165, 98 S. Ct. 2674 (1978). In reviewing a warrant to determine whether it states probable cause, the reviewing court is limited to the record before the warrant-issuing magistrate. *State v. Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 989, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991). There must be a sufficient factual showing that a reasonable person would believe that the object sought by the warrant is linked with the commission of the crime and will be found

in the place to be searched. *DeSmidt*, 155 Wis.2d 119, 131-32, 454 N.W.2d 780 (1990), quoting *State v. Starke*, 81 Wis. 2d 399, 408, 260 N.W.2d 739 (1978). The duty of the reviewing court is to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis to conclude that probable cause existed. *DeSmidt*, 155 Wis. 2d at 133, 454 N.W.2d 780 (1990). Without the offending false information and with the omitted correct information, which should have been provided to the magistrate, that burden is not met here.

Because of these misrepresentations with the incorrect information sworn to by the officer in reckless disregard of the truth and the failure to include crucial relevant facts in the affidavit for the search warrant, there is no showing of probable cause in the affidavit for the warrant. Therefore, the Fourth Amendment is violated, and the results of the search must be suppressed. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643, 670, 81 S. Ct. 1684 (1961), quoting *Wolf v. Colorado*, 338 U.S. 25, 42, 69 S. Ct. 1359 (1949).

III. The blood test result must be suppressed because the search warrant authorized only drawing the blood and not testing the blood.

The prosecutor argued, and the trial court agreed that *State v. Riedel* controls this issue. 259 Wis. 2d 921, 656 N.W.2d 789 (Wis. App. 2003). The trial court ruled:

-- the Revel (phonetic)² case covers that, and I believe it's good law in Wisconsin that you don't need a second search warrant. Once the police have seized the blood, it's their blood put it into evidence, and from that point in time the purpose of it was to – under implied consent she consents – impliedly consents to the testing of her blood and even if you – You have a right to refuse. But, in this case because of McNeely we get search warrants authorizing the draw. The testing can be done under implied consent. Revel (phonetic) is also good. I mean, you don't need a second search warrant.

R. 43, p. 37.

In *Riedel*, the decision first notes the defendant's blood was drawn pursuant to the then-recognized exception to the warrant requirement of the Fourth Amendment and was a warrantless and nonconsensual blood draw based on probable cause with exigent circumstances due to dissipation of alcohol from blood. *Id.* at 925. That exception, as laid out in *State v. Bohling*, 73 Wis. 2d 529, 494 N.W.2d 399 (1993), has since been abrogated by Missouri v. McNeely, 133 S.Ct. 1552 (2013). The Riedel court also drew a distinction between the facts in *VanLaarhoven*, where there was consent to the test after the implied consent warnings were given, and a case where there was no consent. Riedel at 927. State v. VanLaarhoven, 248 Wis. 2d 881, 637 N.W.2d 411. The Court then concluded that the analysis of the blood was "simply the examination of evidence obtained pursuant to a valid search." Riedel at 930-31.

-

² The prosecutor had previously mentioned *State v. Riedel* as 2003 Wisconsin Appellate Court case. R. 43, p. 35.

Riedel did not involve a search warrant but a then-recognized exception to the requirement to obtain a warrant. The Court in Riedel had no warrant to scrutinize and, further, did not examine the issue of whether a second search was even performed. That Court analogized to seizure of film and subsequent development of the film. Id. at 929, citing State v. Petrone, 161 Wis. 2d 530, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991). Riedel also relied on the analysis in another circuit in United States v. Snyder, holding that no warrant was required to authorize a search when a blood sample was taken without consent after an arrest for operating while intoxicated offense. 852 F.2d 471 (9th Cir. 1988).

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