STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

## DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 15AP2675-CR

LAUREN ANN ERSTAD,

Defendant-Appellant.

### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT**

ON APPEAL FROM THE FINAL ORDER ENTERED ON SEPTEMEBR 10, 2015 IN ROCK COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT BRANCH 1, THE HONORABLE JAMES P. DALEY PRESIDING.

> DAVID J. O'LEARY Rock County District Attorney

> MARY E. BRICCO Rock County District Attorney State Bar No. 1001001

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Rock County District Attorney's Office 51 South Main Street Janesville, Wisconsin 53545 (608) 757-5615

# RECEIVED

06-01-2016

##

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. <u>Standard of Review and Relevant Legal</u> <u>Principles</u>

The defendant, who correctly states the standard of review (Appellant's Brief p. 13), argues that the search warrant lacked probable cause thereby warranting suppression of the fruits of the search. For the reasons set forth below, the defendant's arguments have no merit and must fail.

Probable cause for a search warrant is not a hyper technical or legalistic concept, but rather, is a flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior. *State v. Herrmann*, 2000 WI App 38, ¶ 22, 233 Wis. 2d 135, 608 N.W.2d 406; *State v. Lindgren*, 2004 WI App 159, ¶ 20, 275 Wis. 2d 851, 687 N.W.2d 60. Moreover, the quantum of evidence necessary to support a determination of probable cause for a search warrant is less than that required for conviction or for bind over following a preliminary examination. *State v. Sloan*, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 23, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W.2d 189. See also *Maryland v. Garrison*, 480 U.S. 79, 87 (1987) (sufficient probability, not certainty, is touchtone of reasonableness under Fourth Amendment).

Thus, the objective facts before the police officer must only lead to the conclusion that guilt is more than a possibility; but the evidence need not reach the level of proof beyond a reasonable doubt, or even that guilt is more likely than not. *State v. Secrist*, 224 Wis. 2d 201, 212, 589 N.W.2d 387 (1999). Further, officers executing the search warrant are entitled to the support of the usual inferences which reasonable people draw from facts. *State v. Schaefer*, 2003 WI App 164, ¶ 23, 266 Wis. 2d 719, 668 N.W.2d 760.

The defendant—as the challenger of the search warrant—bears the burden of establishing insufficient probable cause; the State does not need to prove probable cause existed. *State v. Gralinski*, 2007 WI App 233, ¶ 14, 306 Wis. 2d 101, 743 N.W.2d 448.

> II. <u>The Search Warrant Affidavit Gave Rise to</u> <u>Sufficient Probable Cause to Support the</u> <u>Warrant's Issuance.</u>

> > 6

The Officer defendant alleges that Welte misrepresented facts and had a reckless disregard for the truth. However, the Officer did no such thing, and he did believe the facts as set forth in the affidavit. First, the officer did see the Defendant operating her vehicle upon arrival at The defendant fails to mention that the the crash scene. officer indicated on the warrant form he personally saw the vehicle being either driven or operated. The keys were in the ignition and the defendant was the lone occupant of the vehicle. She was the only person who could have operated the vehicle. Even an absent a running motor, circumstantial evidence supported that the defendant was the one operating the vehicle upon the officer's arrival. State v. Mertes, 315 Wis.2d. 756, 762 N.W.2d. 813 (Ct. App 2008).

Second, the defendant also takes issue with the fact the officer indicated on the warrant that he was dispatched to investigate a drunken driver. The State admits that the actual dispatch was for a vehicle crash and did not include the information that the driver may be intoxicated. But as the officer testified, upon arriving at the scene he discovered that the driver was intoxicated. By the time he filled out the search warrant form, he was in fact investigating a drunken driver. The officer explained that in section 12 of the form there is nowhere to indicate that he was dispatched to an accident and since he was truthfully sent to investigate an accident as a result of a drunken driver he correctly checked that box.

Third, the defendant alleges that the officer incorrectly marked on the search warrant that the defendant refused to provide a blood sample to the officer. However, the totalities of the situation lead the officer to mark the request as a refusal. The defendant was obstructionist. She was yelling and arguing with the officers. Her behavior indicted that she would not cooperate with the blood draw. A verbal refusal is not required to a find a refusal. Conduct may serve as a basis for finding a refusal. State v. Rydeski, 214 Wis.2d. 101, 571 N.W.2d. 417 (Ct. App. 1997) Only after being told about the warrant, did she somewhat acquiesce to the blood draw. But she made sure the officer was aware she would only agree to provide a blood sample because she was being force to do so by the officer. The defendant then asked for a lawyer. There is no constitutional duty to inform a suspected drunk driver that the right to counsel does not attach to the implied consent law. *State v. Reitter*, 227 Wis. 2d. 213, 595 N.W.2d. 646 (1999) The officer has no choice but to consider it a refusal and obtain the warrant. Had he not done that, the defendant would now be arguing the exact opposite that she did not consent to the blood draw and the officer should have obtained a warrant. And in fact, if this Court agrees with the defendant that she did consent to the blood draw, and therefore warrant was not needed, then the entire issue of the validity of the warrant becomes moot.

The trial court found that the officer didn't intentionally misrepresent the facts as set forth in the warrant and as a result should have considered them in determining the validity of the warrant. R. 34 p.37-38. However, even after the court excised those facts, the court was correct in finding there was sufficient probable cause to issue the warrant.

The warrant sets forth all of the following. The defendant admitted she was the driver of the vehicle that had been in a rollover accident. Indicating that the defendant's ability to safely operate a motor vehicle was impaired. She

admitted to drinking a lot prior to driving, and she smelled strongly of alcohol. She was emotional, had blood shot eyes and extremely slurred speech. She had difficulty maintaining her balance. All of those are indictors of intoxication. Further the defendant failed the Horizontal Gaze Nystagmus. The defendant points out that all of these indicators when taken separately have other causes then just intoxication. However, the officer does not have to rule out those other causes and when taken in their totality, there was probable cause to believe the defendant was a operating motor vehicle while under the influence of an intoxicant. The trial court's ruling should be upheld.

## III. <u>Law Enforcement Can Chemically Analyze</u> <u>Blood Lawfully Seized During an OWI</u> <u>Investigation.</u>

The defendant, who correctly states the de novo standard of review (Appellant's Brief p. 13), argues that a second search warrant was necessary to give law enforce authority to chemically analyze her blood. The State understands that the defendant to be arguing that she consented to the blood draw after being read the informing the accused form and being told that the officer would need to get a warrant if she refused. R. 34 p. 7. Consent is an exception to the warrant requirement.

The State argues that the defendant refused to provide a blood sample, so the officer had to draft a search warrant. The warrant was reviewed and signed by a court commissioner. That warrant was upheld by the circuit court. Id. p. 37-38. Once the blood was lawfully seized, law enforcement was authorized to test the blood. They did not need a second warrant for that authorization.

Under either the State's or defendant's view of the facts and legal analysis, the examination of lawfully seized evidence by warrant or consent of the defendant is part of the seizure. Law enforcement does not need judicial authorization to analyze the blood.

In the case of *State v. VanLaarhoven*, 248 Wis.2d 881, 637 N.W.2d 411 (Ct. App. 2001), VanLaarhoven consented to submit to the chemical test of his blood after being read the Informing the Accused form, like the defendant claims she did in the instant case. Van Larrhoven's blood was sent to the Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene for analysis. VanLaarhoven filed numerous motions including

one challenging the examination of his blood without a second search warrant. The court of appeals ultimately disagreed with VanLaarhoven and concluded that a second warrant was not necessary prior to submitting the blood for analysis. The court relied partly on the implied consent law which states that drivers on public highways have consented to one or more tests of their blood breath or urine. Wis. Stats. 343.305(2). However, the court also realized that the consent can be revoked. The court clearly held that analysis of the lawfully seized blood is not a separate incident requiring specific authorization. The right to seize the blood includes the right to test the blood for alcohol content at a later time. The court of appeals relied on U.S. v. Snyder, 852 F.2d. 471(9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1988). The *Snyder* court said:

> The flaw in Snyder's argument is his attempt to divide his arrest and subsequent extraction and testing of his blood into too many separate incidents, each to be given independent significance for fourth amendment purpose....

#### VanLaarhoven at 889.

The court of appeals also relied on *State v. Petrone*, 161 Wis.2d. 530, 468 N.W.2d. 676 (1991), which held that law enforcement, after lawfully seizing undeveloped film, can develop the film and view the film without a second warrant authorizing it. The examination of evidence lawfully seized is an essential part of the seizure. The court held that there is no need for a second warrant or judicial authority to examine the evidence.

The Court of Appeals came to the same conclusion using the same rational in *State v. Riedel*, 2003 WI App 18, 259 Wis.2d. 921, 656 N.W.2d. 789. *Riedel* is the case the trial court used in in reaching its decision that a second search warrant was not necessary to be able to analyze the defendant's blood. Riedel revoked his implied consent, but he did not challenge the warrantless blood draw, but rather he argued that testing of the blood was a second separate search that required a search warrant. The Court citing *VanLaarhoven* concluded:

....that *Snyder* and *Petrone* stand for the proposition that the "examination of evidence seized pursuant to the warrant requirement or an exception to the warrant requirement is an essential part of the seizure and does not require a judicially authorized warrant. Both decisions refuse to permit a defendant to parse the law seizure of blood sample into multiple components."

#### *Riedel* at 929.

The defendant Erstad's blood was lawfully seized by Office Welte. The defendant argues she consented to the blood draw, and the State argues that it was collected pursuant to a warrant after a refusal. In either case, based on *VanLaarhoven*, her blood was lawfully analyzed by the Wisconsin State Lab of Hygiene, and there was no need for a second warrant. Therefore, the Court should uphold the trial court's ruling.

The defendant also argues that this Court should apply the standards set forth in Katz v. U.S., 389 U.S. 347 (1967) to the facts of this case. *Katz* set forth a two pronged analysis. First, there must be an actual expectation of privacy and second that the expectation be one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable. In *Katz*, the defendant was making a call from a public phone booth. Unbeknownst to him, the FBI was recording his conversation via electronic eavesdropping device attached to the exterior of the phone booth without first obtaining a search warrant. These recordings were then used to convict Katz. The recordings were ultimately held to be an unconstitutional search. Katz was inside of a phone booth with the door closed carrying on a private conversation and it was reasonable for him to expect that the conversations would not be recorded by the FBI. The U.S. Supreme Court did note that a magistrate could have constitutionally authorized the wiretap, but since no search warrant was obtained by the FBI the recording of Katz's conversations was unconstitutional.

The facts in the instant case are completely different. Officer Welte arrested the defendant, explained to her what she was being arrest for and read her the Informing the Accused form as required by law before asking for a sample of her blood. The Informing the Accused form includes the following language. "The law enforcement agency now wants to test one or more samples of your blood, breath or urine to determine the concentration of alcohol or drugs in your system." See: Appendix 1. Officer Welte testified that the defendant understood the Informing the Accused form, and she asked no questions about the form. R. 34 p.7-8. The defendant was fully aware of the fact that her blood was being both collected and tested.

Under these facts, the defendant cannot satisfy even the first prong of Katz. The defendant, who claims she consented to the blood draw, cannot now argue an actual expectation of privacy considering she was told about the intent by law enforcement to analyze her blood, and she was provided that same information about the analysis in writing. The defendant was well aware of the fact that her blood would be tested to determine the concentration of alcohol. Further, the State argues that a commissioner did sign the search warrant that included a request to analyze the blood. In the affidavit for that search warrant, it clearly stated that law enforcement was requesting to search the defendant for blood to obtain sample of the blood for chemical analysis. See: Defense Brief A-10.

The defendant cannot satisfy the second prong, either. The defendant had a Wisconsin driver's license, went out and got highly intoxicated, drove on a public highway at 3:40 AM, endangered the public and had an serious accident. Then she argues that her blood should be not be tested because she expects to keep the level of her intoxication private, even though she claims she consent to the blood draw. Society is not prepared, nor should they ever be prepared to recognize the defendant's expectation as being reasonable. The defendant continues the argument for her expectation of privacy by creating a fictitious situation where a law enforcement officer might somehow get the defendant's blood back from the Lab of Hygiene, then with no authorization somehow transfer it to the Crime Lab. Then convince the Crime Lab to complete an DNA analysis on a misdemeanor Operating While Intoxicated case, so the "petty" police officer can somehow get it into the DNA bank. And for that reason, the defendant argues there should be a second warrant to specifically authorizing the testing of the blood. There is no logic or reason to that argument, and it should not be considered by this court.

#### **CONCLUSION**

This Court should uphold the lower court's order denying the defendant's motions to suppress. The defendant refused to submit her blood for chemical analysis. As a result, the officer drafted a search that was signed by a court commissioner. The search warrant affidavit did contain facts sufficient to establish probable cause to collect and test the defendant's blood.

Furthermore, a second search warrant was not needed to give law enforcement the authority to analyze the defendant's blood. The testing of the defendant's blood was an essential part of the seizure.

Therefore, the State of Wisconsin respectfully requests that this Court uphold the decision of the trial court and order the that defendant be returned to the court for sentencing.